
 

Highways Committee

Tuesday 27 June 2017 at 6.00 pm
Boardrooms 7&8 - Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, 
Wembley HA9 0FJ

Membership:

Members Substitute Members:
Councillors: Councillors:
Southwood (Chair) Butt
Tatler (Vice-Chair) McLennan
Farah Miller
Hirani
M Patel

For further information contact: Tom Welsh, Governance Officer
tom.welsh@brent.gov.uk; 020 8937 6607

For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit democracy.brent.gov.uk

The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting



2

Agenda
Introductions, if appropriate.

Item Page

1 Apologies for Absence and Clarification of Substitutes (if necessary) 

For the Committee to note any apologies for absence from Members and 
clarification of any substitute Members at the meeting if need be.

2 Declarations of Interest 

In accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, Members are invited 
to declare at this stage of the meeting, any relevant personal, prejudicial 
interests or discloseable pecuniary interests in any matter to be 
considered at this meeting.

3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 1 - 6

To approve the attached minutes of the previous meeting on 27 March 
2017 as a correct record.

4 Matters Arising (If Any) 

To address any matters arising from the minutes (if any). 

5 Deputations (If Any) 

To hear any deputations received from members of the public in
accordance with Standing Order 69.

6 Petitions (If Any) 

7 Brent Council Parking Service Annual Report 2016-2017 7 - 46

The purpose of the Annual Report is to explain the aims and objectives of 
the Council’s Parking service and the key achievements of the last 
financial year. The Report includes a statistical analysis setting out 
information on the number of parking and traffic related Penalty Charge 
Notices (PCNs) issued for the period 2016/2017, the revenue and 
expenditure recorded in our Parking Account, and how the surplus on this 
account has been spent or allocated.



3

8 Any Other Urgent Business 

Any decisions taken urgently under this heading must comply with the 
provisions outlined in Standing Order 16 (a) of the Council’s Constitution.

9 Date of Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Highways Committee is scheduled for 16 October 
2017. 

 Please remember to switch your mobile phone to silent during the 
meeting.

 The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 
members of the public.





LONDON BOROUGH OF BRENT

MINUTES OF THE HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE
Held on Monday 27 March 2017 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillors Southwood (Chair), Butt and Hirani

1. Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors M Patel and Farah. 

2. Declarations of Interests 

There were no disclosable pecuniary interests, or other interests, declared by 
Members.

3. Minutes of the Previous Meeting 

It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the previous meeting held on 25 January 
2017 be approved as an accurate record of the meeting, subject to the following 
amendments: 

(i) In the fifth paragraph of the ‘Medway Gardens Petition’ agenda item, the 
minutes make clear that concerns had initially been raised on one of the 10 
completed roads, rather than there being no concerns, and that the Council 
had been working to address these; and

(ii) Resolution (iii) of the ‘Medway Gardens Petition’ agenda item, be made 
clearer in that the Committee was recommending that the Council continue 
to review and update its communications policy for consultation with 
residents on road maintenance issues, and that the Highways Committee did 
not have the power to change this policy itself. 

4. Matters Arising (If Any) 

There were no matters arising. 

5. Deputations (If Any) 

The Chair noted that a formal deputation from Mr Robert Dunwell (on behalf of 
Qara Group of Associations) had been received in respect of Agenda Item No.7, 
Motorcycles in Bus Lanes. The Committee RESOLVED that:

(i) In accordance with Standing Order 69, the deputation be heard in relation to 
the agenda item Mr Dunwell wished to speak on; and  



2
Highways Committee - 27 March 2017

(ii) The agenda be re-arranged to hear the Motorcycles in Bus Lanes item 
before the Petition for Road Safety Improvements near Wykeham Primary 
School.  

6. Motorcycles in Bus Lanes 

The Chair invited Mr Robert Dunwell (representative of Qara Group of Associations) 
to address the Committee. Mr Dunwell outlined that he had spoken to a number of 
motorcycle and scooter dealerships and had been in contact with hundreds of 
motorcyclists to conduct a ‘straw poll’ and gather feedback on the proposals being 
put forward by the Council. He also noted that on a personal basis he was a car 
driver, motorcyclist and pedal cyclist and would use all three modes of transport to 
get around the borough on a regular basis. Mr Dunwell stated that, on the whole, 
the proposals for a trial of motorcycles in bus lanes had been welcomed by these 
stakeholders with a high level of support. The Committee heard that it was felt that 
advantages (specified in paragraph 3.15 of the report) were agreeable and 
outweighed the disadvantages. He highlighted, in particular, the positives of 
improving road safety and the potential for reducing motorcycle casualties. Mr 
Dunwell concluded that it was appreciated that the Council was taking these steps 
to introduce this trial. 

The Chair then invited Tony Kennedy (the Council’s Head of Highways and 
Infrastructure) to give the Committee a further overview of the proposals. Mr 
Kennedy outlined that the report provided information on a proposed 24 month trial 
for allowing motorcycles to use bus lanes on the A404 corridor. The Committee 
heard that the data captured from this would inform a future policy decision on 
allowing motorcycles to use bus lanes borough-wide. He noted that the Council 
planned to publicise the trial widely and that Officers would continue to liaise with 
Transport for London (TfL) on initiatives which ensured motorcyclists adhered to the 
speed limits within bus lanes, and also reduced traffic speeds at accident hot spots. 
Mr Kennedy continued that there were currently 31 bus lanes in Brent and that if the 
trial provided successful outcomes the plan would ultimately be to roll out this policy 
to every bus lane in the borough. He highlighted that TfL supported the trial and 
that two neighbouring Councils (Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea and 
City of Westminster) had recently trialled this proposal with positive results. He 
concluded that the trial would be monitored and evaluated against a host of 
different criteria and that a more detailed report which assessed the trial would be 
provided at a future meeting of the Highways Committee. 

Questions arose on whether it was necessary to have a 24 month trial, considering 
the large, positive evidence base there was already on allowing motorcycles in bus 
lanes, and also whether the trial could be expanded to include more roads with bus 
lanes rather than just the A404. Tony Kennedy stated that the Council did consider 
proposals for a borough-wide trial, but this would have been more expensive at this 
stage and would have required further budget considerations. He also stated that a 
longer time period allowed more time for perception surveys with motorcycle groups 
and TfL alongside analysis of the data captured against the key evaluation criteria. 
He did however state that the trial period could be shortened to a degree under 
experimental powers, which was welcomed by the Committee. 

Members raised questions about how this scheme could be linked to a road safety 
campaign to educate both drivers and motorcyclists on the dangers of speeding 



3
Highways Committee - 27 March 2017

and the increased risk of accidents that this caused. It was felt that this would be 
particularly important for motorcyclists who had just obtained a licence. Tony 
Kennedy said the Council wanted to work with both young and old drivers and 
motorcyclists on the importance of adhering to speed limits. He emphasised that 
part of the scheme included speed surveys, and that the Council also frequently 
liaised with the Police on their highways initiatives on speeding. Linked to this, the 
Committee also questioned what the Council could do to educate drivers of larger 
vehicles, such as freight vehicles, of the need for increased motorcycle awareness. 
Tony Kennedy said that the Council provided awareness training to both drivers of 
large vehicles and motorcyclists and it was important that this continued to be 
publicised. He also noted that the Council also led further awareness training 
initiatives in schools to highlight this problem early to younger drivers and 
motorcyclists.   

Further questions arose on the level of signage for the proposed trial and whether 
details would be prominent and clear for road users upon imposition. Tony Kennedy 
stated that the physical size of signs were guided by traffic regulations but would be 
as prominent as possible. He expanded further on an earlier point about the Council 
planning to publicise the scheme widely which would include: developing a full 
communications plan for advertising the scheme in local magazines, newspapers, 
online and with posters planned to be sent to motorcycle traders and outlets in the 
borough.  

RESOLVED that: 

(i) The contents of the report and information on the experiences of other Local 
Authorities in terms in a national and regional context be noted;

(ii) The Council’s Head of Highways and Infrastructure be instructed to 
undertake the necessary statutory procedure to pilot the scheme under 
experimental powers for a maximum period of 18 months. This being shorter 
than the recommended 24 months and that during the experimental period of 
the Order the Head of Highways and Infrastructure consider all 
representations; 

(iii) The Council’s Head of Highways and Infrastructure report back to the next 
meeting of the Highways Committee (provisionally set as June 2017) on the 
initial data from the first few months of the trial. This report would look to 
discuss the viability of shortening the trial period further, subject to positive 
feedback and bring a recommendation for borough-wide implementation 
forward or for the trial to be expanded to include additional suitable roads 
with bus lanes;

(iv) The Council’s Head of Highways and Infrastructure to report back to a future 
meeting of the Highways Committee (provisionally January 2018) with more 
detailed data from the trial and make recommendations on a decision to 
allow motorcyclists to use all bus lanes across the borough; and 

(v) The Council’s Head of Highways and Infrastructure ensure the pilot was 
publicised widely using local motorcycle traders and dealers to promote the 
scheme.



4
Highways Committee - 27 March 2017

7. Petition for Road Safety Improvements Near Wykeham Primary School 

Tony Kennedy introduced the report which informed the Committee of a petition 
from parents at Wykeham Primary School and which requested that the Council 
improve road safety around the school. The deadline for signatures in support of 
the petition closed in December 2016 and was ultimately signed by 160 people, 
validated by the Council’s Governance Team. The report outlined the signatories’ 
specific concerns about the safety of the children at the school including the risk of 
children being knocked down by cars on the pavement or whilst they crossed the 
road and also the damage being caused to the pavements by cars parking on them. 
Mr Kennedy highlighted that the report included that there had been two accidents 
within the last three years (paragraph 3.12) around the school, but neither of these 
were school related or had involved children at the school. The Committee heard 
that the Council had met with the lead petitioner to discuss concerns and had 
identified improvements in this area which included: enforcing ‘school – keep clear’ 
markings using CCTV equipped vehicles; additional guard railing to ensure 
pedestrians or children could only cross at crossing points; plus new bollards and 
trees on Annesley Close and Ardley Close to address the issue of cars parking on 
the pavements. Mr Kennedy concluded that the petitioners had appeared to be 
satisfied with the outcome after meeting with Council Officers. 

Members noted the importance of the School’s Bronze Accredited Travel Plan and 
what could be done to encourage further improvement and whether this could be 
linked to encouraging different methods of getting to school. Tony Kennedy stated 
that the Council encouraged all schools in the borough to create and implement a 
travel plan. He noted that the Council provided assistance to schools on creating 
these and actively wanted schools to work with them to improve their plans to 
achieve a higher accreditation. He explained to the Committee that the 
accreditation was provided by TfL and was valid over a two-year period. 

Questions also arose on the issue of parking and the problem it was causing in 
“making families squeeze against the fences”, Members questioned how this could 
be specifically addressed. Tony Kennedy stated that the Council could potentially 
further assess the parking on the affected roads and consider proposals such as 
having parking only being allowed on one side of the road or having footway 
parking only after 6pm but he highlighted that this would need a necessary 
consultation period with residents.      

RESOLVED that: 

(i) The contents of the petition from concerned parents and the issues that were 
raised regarding road safety improvements near Wykeham Primary School 
be noted; 

(ii) The outcome of officer’s investigations be noted; 

(iii) The Council’s Head of Highways and Infrastructure be instructed to 
implement the actions identified within this report;

(iv) The Council’s Head of Highways and Infrastructure be instructed to 
undertake any necessary statutory and non-statutory consultation for 
engineering improvement measures, and implement the scheme where there 



5
Highways Committee - 27 March 2017

were no objections or representations or where he considered these to be 
groundless; 

(v) The School be strongly encouraged by the Committee to update its travel 
plan, working with the Council’s Safety and Travel Planning Team where 
necessary, to reflect the proposed changes in the report and to ensure that 
Local Implementation Plan (LIP) funding could be accessed to implement 
these; and

(vi) The Council’s Head of Highways and Infrastructure be instructed to review 
the existing arrangements for footway parking in Annesley Close, Aboyne 
Road and Ardley Close, particularly during school drop off and collections 
times with a view to improving pedestrian accessibility and safety. 

8. Any Other Urgent Business 

There was no urgent business to be transacted. 

9. Date of Next Meeting 

The Chair said that the next meeting of the Highways Committee would be known 
upon publication of the Council’s annual programme of meetings for 2017/18.

The meeting was declared closed at 7.38 pm

COUNCILLOR ELEANOR SOUTHWOOD
Chair





Highways Committee
27 June 2017

Report of the Operational Director, 
Environmental Services

For Decision Wards Affected: 
All 

Parking Annual Report 2016-17

1.0 Summary

1.1 Brent Council is committed to providing a high quality parking service and a fair, consistent 
and transparent approach to parking and traffic enforcement. We hope that the publication of 
statistical and financial information will support achievement of these objectives. The purpose 
of the Annual Report is to explain the aims and objectives of the Council’s Parking service 
and the key achievements of the last financial year. The Report includes a statistical analysis 
setting out information on the number of parking and traffic related Penalty Charge Notices 
(PCNs) issued for the period 2016/2017, the revenue and expenditure recorded in our Parking 
Account, and how the surplus on this account has been spent or allocated.  

1.2 The Report also meets a key requirement set out in the Statutory Guidance issued under the 
Traffic Management Act 2004. This requires local authorities to produce and publish an 
annual report on parking enforcement activities. 

1.3 At its meeting on 25 July 2016, Cabinet specifically delegated to Highways Committee 
responsibility for approval of Parking Annual Reports from the 2016/17 report onwards. 

2.0 Recommendations 

That Highways Committee:

2.1 Approves for publication prior to October 2017 the Council’s Parking Annual Report 2016/17, 
as set out as the Appendix to this report, subject to amendment in respect of 2016/17 ETA 
data; and

2.2 Notes that additional information on the outcome of appeals to the independent appeal 
service, Environment and Traffic Adjudicators (ETA), in 2016/17, will be added to the 
published Annual Report in September 2017.



3.0 Background

3.1 The purpose of the Annual Report is to provide statistical and financial information relating to 
all aspects of parking, and traffic enforcement, operations. This includes the number of PCNs 
issued, the number of PCNs paid, the revenue and expenditure related to the enforcement 
activities recorded in the Parking Account, and how the surplus on the account has been 
spent or allocated.

3.2 Publication of the report allows residents, motorists, local businesses, and other interested 
parties easy access to information regarding last year’s parking and traffic enforcement 
operations. The report will be published on the Council’s website.

4.0      Executive Summary

The table below summarises Key Performance Indicators agreed for the Parking service in 
2016/17, as well as performance in previous years for comparison. 

Key Performance Indicators 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

PCNs issued by Civil Enforcement 
Officers for parking contraventions

75,458 87,347 99,145 103,363

PCNs issued by CCTV for parking 
contraventions

37,353 36,584 991 2,160

PCNs issued by CCTV for bus lane 
contraventions

5,681 11,362 8,370 10,349

PCNs issued by CCTV for moving traffic 
offences

24,029 27,512 73,990 72,221

Parking account: net revenue £7.914m £8.957m £10.119m £11.724m

4.1 Since 2015/16 the number of parking PCNs issued by CCTV has dropped by almost 95%, 
following the introduction of the Deregulation Act 2015. This also had the effect of reducing 
enforcement revenue by an estimated £1.8m p.a. from 2015/16 onwards.  From 1st April 2015 
local authorities have only been able to enforce parking restrictions through CCTV in the 
following areas: school Keep Clear zig-zag markings; bus stops; red routes; and bus lanes. 
Enforcement of moving traffic contraventions is not affected. The restrictions on CCTV use 
have had a particularly detrimental impact on authorities’ ability to enforce parking restrictions 
if drivers are present and able to avoid a PCN being issued by driving away. Typically these 
are drivers waiting for children in the locality of schools, or vehicles parked illegally in 
commercial areas with the driver nearby. An increase in the number of CCTV-issued parking 
PCNs in 2017 has resulted from focused action to reduce the number of illegally parked 
vehicles blocking bus lanes in Harlesden.

4.2 To address the parking enforcement gap caused by the 2015 Deregulation Act, additional 
CEOs were deployed on-street from 1st April 2015, and improvements were made to the 
efficiency and effectiveness of CEOs during their deployed hours. Since then parking PCNs 
issued by Civil Enforcement Officers have increased by almost 20%, reflecting more 
effective deployment and higher levels of activity.   

4.3 PCNs issued for bus lane contraventions increased by almost one quarter. This reflects a 
higher level of enforcement activity during 2016/17, rather than a decrease in compliance by 
motorists.



4.4 PCNs issued for moving traffic contraventions decreased by just over 1,700. This has 
resulted from significantly improved compliance by motorists with traffic restrictions, following 
the deployment of 13 new unattended camera systems during 2015/16. These cameras 
provide consistent and reliable enforcement at key locations where traffic congestion and 
safety has caused concern in the past. The new cameras have had a major impact on improving 
motoring standards, reducing traffic congestion and enhancing road safety. After the 13 
cameras became operational, the number of PCNs issued for moving traffic offences peaked 
at 6,985 in May 2016. By March 2017 compliance at most locations had significantly improved; 
the number of PCNs issued that month had declined to 5,391, an improvement in compliance 
borough-wide of over 22%, in addition to the improvement achieved in 2015/16. PCN issuance 
does vary from month to month; nonetheless, at key locations compliance has improved 
markedly and the number of PCNs issued has correspondingly declined:

 Glacier Way – PCNs reduced from 1,855 (September 2015) to  604 in March 2017
 Chamberlayne Road/Bolton Gardens – PCNs reduced from 1,377 (October 2015) to  164 in 

March 2017 (an 88% reduction in non-compliance)
 Craven Park Road – PCNs reduced from 1,866 (October 2015) to 553 in March 2017

A further 10 cameras are intended to be deployed in 2017.

4.5 Complaints about the service in 2016/17 fell to 146, compared to 164 in 2015/16. In 2016/17 
the council received 56% less parking complaints than were received in 2013/14.  Generally, 
Parking services have become more reliable and responsive. In addition, the increased 
familiarity of residents with the online permit and visitor parking booking system has reduced 
complaints. The provision of Interactive Voice Recognition technology for the Serco Parking 
call centre has reduced waiting times and abandoned calls, and thereby reduced both call 
volumes and complaints about telephone service standards. Finally, all correspondence 
concerning disputed PCNs and associated debt recovery is being dealt with through the 
statutory appeals process as required by law.  

4.6 Payment for parking using mobile phones and tablets continues to show strong growth.  In 
2016/17, 59% of on-street parking payments were made using the Council’s cashless parking 
provider RingGo.  This compares with just 19% in 2012/13. In Brent’s car parks, 52% of 
bookings last year were cashless; compared to 20% in 2013/14.

4.7 Information on the Council’s 2016/17 record at the London-wide independent appeals 
service, Environment and Traffic Adjudicators (ETA), is not yet available. This data will be 
published in September, and will be added to the published Annual Report as soon as it 
becomes available. The most recent data available is from 2015/16 which showed a 36% 
decline since 2013/14 in the proportion of PCNs issued which were appealed to ETA. This 
shows increasing confidence amongst motorists in Brent’s enforcement decisions. There was 
also a 30% reduction from 2013/14 in the proportion of PCNs which were cancelled by ETA, 
showing an improvement in the reliability of civil enforcement undertaken by Brent.

 
4.8 Recovery of Penalty Charge Notice debt: Of the 188,093 PCNs issued in 2016/2017, 

129,433 were paid by 31st March 2017, an overall recovery rate in-year of 69%. Over the first 
6 months of 2017/18, the recovery rate of PCNs issued in 2016/17 is expected to eventually 
rise to at least 71%. The average yield per PCN has remained at £51.50. Both the average 
value and recovery rate have remained steady throughout the past two years as we continue 
to make improvements in the quality of the PCNs issued and in the collection of outstanding 
debt. This performance puts Brent in the top rank of performance nationally, in line with 
industry benchmarked standards. Strong debt recovery performance is a significant factor in 
making enforcement an effective deterrent.



4.9 The Parking service undertook a borough-wide consultation in April 2016, seeking the 
views of residents, local businesses and schools on a number of proposals to changes in the 
way the council manages, and charges for, on-street parking within Controlled Parking Zones 
(CPZs). A series of focus groups, a public meeting and attendance at the Brent Connect 
Forums were also arranged as part of the consultation. A total of 3,319 responses were 
received through our engagement with residents that helped shape and deliver changes to 
parking management.

4.10 Working with the local business community to address a series of parking concerns in the 
Lower Place Industrial Estate, Stonebridge, the council successfully introduced the borough’s 
first ever business specific CPZ in November 2016. The scheme provides business permits 
and a new flexible ‘business visitor’ permit. The scheme also included comprehensive 
refurbishment and clearance of abandoned vehicles from the Disraeli Road car park. The car 
park has subsequently been awarded ParkMark accreditation (see below).

4.11 The Council operates 12 public car parks across the borough, including the Brent Civic Centre 
car park which is managed by Bilfinger Europa on behalf of the council. These car parks 
provide a combined total of 893 spaces. The Metropolitan Police Park Mark aims to reduce 
crime and the fear of crime within parking facilities through the achievement of high standards 
in lighting, signage, cleanliness and surveillance. Prior to April 2016 just two of our car parks 
(Elm Road and St John’s Road) had secured the Park Mark Award. In 2016/17, six more car 
parks gained accreditation, bringing the number of accredited car parks to eight. 

4.12 Vehicle ownership has continued to decline in areas covered by CPZs, as shown in the table 
below. Correspondingly, revenue from sales of resident parking permits is declining.

Permits Issued 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Resident Permits 34,427 31,132 31,098

5.0      Financial Implications

5.1 There are no direct financial implications as the report simply provides a summary of the 
previous financial year’s activity by the Parking service.

5.2     The report discusses the activities and finances of parking operations during the last financial 

      year. A summary of the headline figures is set out below. 

5.3     Parking Account 2016/2017

Net Expenditure (£000)
Parking Administration 4,532 
On-Street Parking -4,017 
Off-Street Car Parks -365 
Parking Enforcement -12,526 
London Bus Initiative 323 
Parking Control Account Projects 329 

Total -11,724



5.4     Application of Net Revenue

Transfer (£,000)
  

Concessionary Fares 11,724
Surplus Nil

5.5      Overall the Parking service fully met the expectations set out in the Council’s agreed budget 
for 2016/17. The net revenue on the Parking account increased by almost 16%, from 
£10.119m in 2015/16 to £11.724m in 2016/17. The service raised £0.406m more revenue 
than was originally anticipated in budget planning, despite the introduction of revised visitor 
permit charges being delayed until November 2016. For 2017/18, the service has committed 
£386k to fund a range of service improvement projects, including the removal of surplus pay 
and display machines, and the replacement of machines which have a poor record of 
malfunctions. 

 
5.6      The surplus on the parking account covered 72% of the total expenditure incurred by the 

      Council on Concessionary Fares (£16.284m in 2016/17), up from 48% in 2015/16. 

6.0      Legal Implications

6.1 The civil parking enforcement powers of local authorities are set out in the Traffic 
Management Act 2004. The Secretary of State for Transport has given statutory guidance 
under section 87 of the Traffic Management Act 2004 to which local authorities must give due 
regard when exercising their parking management functions.

6.2 Part 6 of the Traffic Management Act 2004 (TMA) provides for the civil enforcement of parking 

contraventions. The Statutory Guidance from the Department of Transport entitled “The 
Secretary of State’s Statutory Guidance to local authorities for the civil enforcement of parking 
contraventions”, issued in March 2015, pursuant to Part 6 of the TMA, confirms enforcement 
authorities should produce and publish an annual report about their enforcement activities 
within 6 months of each financial year-end, and as a minimum, include the financial, statistical 
and other data as set out in Annex A of the said Statutory Guidance.

6.3 Under section 55 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (as amended and hereafter referred 

to as “the 1984 Act”), parking enforcement authorities must keep account of their income and 
expenditure in respect of on-street parking places. This ring fenced account is known as the 
Special Parking Account. The 1984 Act requires that any surplus in income that is generated 
and appropriated into the Council’s General Fund at year end must be applied towards 
specific purposes as set out under Section 55(4) of the 1984 Act which are related to on and 
off street parking, transport, environmental improvement and highways matters and they are 
listed in page 31 in the Appendix to this report.

6.4 As stated in paragraph 1.3 above, on 25 July 2016, the Cabinet delegated the function of 
approving the Council’s Parking Annual Reports from 2016/17 to the Highways Committee.

7.0     Diversity Implications

7.1 None

8.0     Staffing/Accommodation Implications 



8.1 None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Parking Annual Report 2014/15
Parking Annual Report 2015/16
Parking Annual Report 2016/17 (see Appendix)

CONTACT OFFICERS

Anthony Vartanian – Parking Policy Manager

Gavin F. Moore       - Head of Parking and Lighting

Chris Whyte           – Operational Director, Environmental Services



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Parking Annual Report 

2016-2017 

London Borough of Brent         
Civic Centre, Engineers Way,  

Wembley, HA9 0FJ 

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwibwZm3zefTAhWoI8AKHaCADjYQjRwIBw&url=https://www.driving.co.uk/news/angled-bays-put-new-slant-perfect-car-park/&psig=AFQjCNE0NEmkcBpjMl0U-XXs_gPWNhExug&ust=1494583891901859


Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
2 

Contents 

                    Foreword 

Chapter 01: Overview…………………………………………….………………………...4 

                    National and Local Context                       

                    Brent Context 

                    Parking Contract and Brent Parking Services 

Chapter 02: Parking Enforcement........................................................................…....8 

                    What we enforce 

Chapter 03: Enforcement Activity ………………………………………..………………11 

                    Civil Enforcement Officers 

                    CCTV Enforcement 

                    Vehicle Removals 

Chapter 04: Responding to Enquiries……………………………………………………16 

                    Responding to PCN Enquiries 

                    Independent Appeals Service 

Chapter 05: Customer Care………………………………………………………………18 

                    Customer Satisfaction 

                    Contact Centre 

Chapter 06: Parking Services…………………………………………………………….20 

                    Parking Provisions in the Borough 

                    Permit Types and Issuance Volumes 

Chapter 07: On-Street Parking…………………………………………………………...25 

                    Pay & Display 

                    Cashless Parking 

Chapter 08: Off-Street Parking…………………………………………………………...28 

                    Council Operated Car Parks 

                    Wembley Event Day Parking 

                    Car Park Season Tickets 

Chapter 09: Financial Information………………………………………………………..30 

                    Summary of Income and Expenditure 

                    Allocation of Surplus 

                    Debt Recovery Data 

Chapter 10: Future Developments……………………………………………………….33 

                     

Chapter 11: Useful Links……….………………………………………………………....34 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
3 

Foreword 

 

Welcome to the 2016-2017 edition of Brent Council’s Annual Parking Report.  The report 

provides an overview of parking and traffic enforcement in Brent. It draws together the 

year on year improvements we have made in our services, and the effect our parking 

policies and enforcement activity have had in achieving high levels of parking and traffic 

compliance.  

 

At the start of the year we invited residents, businesses and schools to participate in a 

consultation about proposed changes to parking charges, and the management of on-

street parking across the borough. Over 3,300 responses were received, and the feedback 

has helped shape the way in which we manage parking on the roads in Brent. A number 

of proposals were agreed by Cabinet and have been implemented throughout the year.   

 

We aim to make Brent a safer borough in which to drive, improve motoring standards and 

reduce traffic congestion. Particular focus continues to be on improving our enforcement 

of moving traffic offences.  Compliance with traffic rules has greatly improved at many key 

locations which were previously congestion hot-spots. I am pleased to see that fewer 

Penalty Charges have needed to be issued at these locations as a result. 

 

Our experienced team continually strives to improve access to services largely as there is 

now an increased number of residents using our on-line services. This year we introduced 

virtual permits and 24 month permits. The council’s emissions-based resident permit 

scheme was also simplified, providing greater clarity in steering motorists to choose 

vehicles which produce a lower level of carbon emissions. Further developments and 

enhancements are being made to ensure greater consistency is achieved across the 

service.  

 

 

Cllr Eleanor Southwood 

Lead Member, Environment 

 

As in previous years, this report explains how surplus parking  

revenue was allocated to meet our wider transport objectives.  

 

I hope you find the report informative. 

 
signature 

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjtw-fB4fbTAhXpAsAKHdOYA_MQjRwIBw&url=http://democracy.brent.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID%3D8866&psig=AFQjCNGyfaFYg9IC3uVyANP_KfqFK4FgTA&ust=1495104772879700


Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
4 

DD 
 
 

Introduction 

 

Brent Council is committed to providing a high quality parking service and a fair, consistent 

and transparent approach to parking and traffic enforcement. We hope that the publication 

of statistical and financial information will support achievement of these objectives. The 

purpose of the Annual Report is to explain the aims and objectives of the Council’s Parking 

service and the key achievements and improvements from the last financial year. The 

Report includes a guide on what we enforce, a statistical analysis, monitoring trends and 

setting out information on the number of parking and traffic related Penalty Charge Notices 

(PCNs) issued for the period 2016/2017, the income and expenditure recorded in our 

Parking Account, and how the surplus on this account has been spent.   

 

The Report also meets a key requirement set out in the 2015 Statutory Guidance issued 

under the Traffic Management Act 2004. This requires local authorities to produce and 

publish an annual report on parking enforcement activities.  

           

National and Local Context 

 

Good parking management is an important tool that can contribute towards achieving the 

Council’s wider transport, economic and planning policy objectives. Well thought-out 

parking policies and effective enforcement can influence travel patterns, sustain the local 

economy, balance competing demands for road space, relieve congestion and contribute 

to sustainable outcomes. 

 

Conversely, parking which is not properly regulated can exacerbate congestion on the 

road network, reduce the reliability of public transport, impact adversely on the local 

economy and create road safety problems. Parking services are highly visible to residents, 

local businesses and visitors. In particular, enforcement needs to be seen as fair, effective 

and proportionate in order to retain public confidence. 

Brent Context 

Brent is an outer London borough with a population of over 311,000, according to the 2011 

census, making it the fifth most populous borough in London. The borough covers an area 

of almost 17 square miles across both inner and outer north-west London. 

1. Overview 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
5 

Brent is bordered by the London Boroughs of Barnet to the north-east, Harrow to the north-

west and Ealing to the south-west. It has short boundaries with the inner London boroughs 

of Camden, Westminster, Hammersmith and Fulham, and Kensington and Chelsea, in the 

south-east. 

 

 

 

 

Wembley and four other town centres in the borough are identified as growth areas. As 

these areas develop, they will inevitably lead to increased demand for movement to, from 

and within the borough. While the availability, frequency and reliability of public transport, 

and the existence of high quality facilities for walking and cycling will influence the way 

people travel, there will nevertheless be an unavoidable impact on traffic and parking. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Brent’s largest town centre, Wembley, is one of the largest regeneration 

programmes in the country. According to the GLA it can accommodate 

approximately 11,500 new homes and 10,000 new jobs through the development 

of sites along Wembley High Road and the land around Wembley Stadium. 

 

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=0ahUKEwijqK3N0uLTAhXGAcAKHZH-AlgQjRwIBw&url=http://directory.londoncouncils.gov.uk/&psig=AFQjCNEz1dymGvympmkeqeDvF9X0D27LUw&ust=1494413552544393


Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
6 

Demand for parking in Brent is high, as in other London boroughs. The Council seeks to 

manage this demand through the use of parking controls and traffic regulations.  These 

aim to: 

 
 

These aims sit alongside wider Council objectives and include sustainability; the 

promotion of alternative modes of transport such as walking, cycling and the use of public 

transport; reducing carbon emissions; and improving air quality. 

 

The Council, in consultation with residents, has introduced a number of measures to 

manage the high demand for kerb space. Parking in the south-eastern part of the borough, 

is managed through Controlled Parking Zones. Other parts of the borough also have 

residential controls; these typically cover areas near high street locations and/or tube and 

railway stations (where there may be a demand for parking from commuters).   

 

A key attraction is Wembley Stadium, which has a 90,000 seating capacity. The Stadium 

is home to the England national football team and regularly hosts other major sporting 

events and music concerts. On major event days, the area receives a high number of 

visitors, placing intense pressure on local parking provision. 

  

To preserve parking for local residents and businesses, the council operates the Wembley 

Event Day Protective Parking Scheme. Parking restrictions are in place 1.5 miles around 

the stadium, and operate from 8am to midnight on the main roads to the Stadium and 

10am to midnight elsewhere.  

Ensure that traffic is able to flow 

through the borough freely

Meets the needs of people with 

disabilities, ensuring that the public 

highway can be used by all and that 

available parking space is shared fairly 

through regulation and pricing

Ensure parking in town centres is 

convenient, safe and secure, 

including appropriate provision for 

motorcycles and deliveries 

Improve road safety, the local 

environment and the quality and 

accessibility of public transport



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
7 

Parking Contract 

The Council began its partnership with Serco for the provision of 

parking services in July 2013. Serco, a member of the British 

Parking Association, has strong expertise in delivering a wide range 

of services for both public and private sector organisations and provides a number of 

essential services to local government.   

 

The contract, which runs to 2018 with an option for Brent to extend up to 2023, provides 

a range of parking services for the west London boroughs of Ealing, Hounslow and Brent. 
 

In Brent, Serco manages: Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs); CCTV enforcement; pay & 

display machine maintenance and cash collection; vehicle removal operations & the car 

pound; and cashless parking & electronic payments. Serco also has the responsibility for 

notice processing services, including the provision of parking control software, scanning, 

indexing, and permit administration. 

 

Brent Parking Service 

 

Brent’s parking team consists of 24 officers, and is committed to delivering the high-quality 

service Brent's residents, businesses and visitors expect. The team continually seeks to 

improve the service and the credibility of parking and traffic enforcement. For example, all 

of our Appeals Officers have been trained to NVQ Level 3 standard in Notice Processing. 

 

The parking team is responsible for: 

 

 Parking policy and overall management 

 

 Management of the parking contracts including: parking enforcement, notice 

processing, permit administration; cashless parking; and bailiff operations 

 

 Management of car parks and on-street parking infrastructure 

 

 Managing the parking and traffic appeals and representations process 

 

 Handling parking related enquiries, complaints and Freedom of Information requests. 

 

 

 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
8 

DD 
 

Overview 

The Council enforces parking and traffic regulations through its contractor, Serco, using a 

combination of Civil Enforcement Officers who patrol the streets and the use of CCTV 

camera technology. CEOs also use mopeds and cars which enable rapid deployed to 

attend to urgent enforcement issues. 

 

 

 

 

What we enforce 

As well as managing Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) and local parking schemes, the 

Council also enforces other traffic and parking. This includes: 

 

School Keep Clear Enforcement 

 

 
 

School Keep Clear markings (yellow zig-zag lines outside of school entrances) are 

monitored by the Council using a combination of CEOs, mobile CCTV enforcement 

vehicles and re-mountable CCTV cameras. Our aim is to maintain and improve road safety 

outside schools. In 2016/17 an average of 240 enforcement hours were deployed 

patrolling outside schools each month during the peak drop-off and pick-up times.  

 

Yellow Line Enforcement 

 

The majority of yellow-line waiting restrictions in Brent are on strategic and distributor 

roads and have been introduced largely to promote safety, assist buses, enable servicing 

and aid efficient movement of traffic. Where practicable, short-stay parking bays are also 

provided on these roads. Red-line waiting restrictions on the Transport for London Road 

Network (TLRN) are the responsibility of TfL, but aim to meet similar objectives on 

London’s busiest roads. 

2. Parking Enforcement 

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=0ahUKEwigs6O9kbvNAhWjLcAKHdHWA9sQjRwIBw&url=https://www.gov.uk/guidance/the-highway-code/road-markings&psig=AFQjCNF1WSMfszfb2Bzp5eZ1sCpxinHtAQ&ust=1466667798287502


Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
9 

Single yellow lines indicate that parking is prohibited at certain times of day. Information 

on when you can park is put on signs or near parking spaces. Numerous restrictions were 

introduced several years ago covering a standard working day from 8.00 or 8.30am to 

6.30pm. Over the last 20 years the borough has seen increased traffic flows and 

congestion, more flexible working arrangements and the growth of evening and Sunday 

trading. As a result, waiting restrictions are reviewed and amended in order to continue 

meeting local needs. 

 

Yellow lines are located on parts of the highway where there would be a safety hazard if 

parking was permitted, or in locations where parking is not suitable due to the narrowness 

of the carriageway or high traffic volumes.  

 

 

Double yellow lines indicate a 24-hour parking prohibition. All double yellow lines within 

Brent operate seven days a week, including bank holidays. It is no longer a requirement 

for signs to accompany double yellow restrictions. 

 

 

 

Footway Enforcement  

 

CEOs take enforcement action where motorists inconsiderately park on the footway 

(pavements). This causes particular problems for visually impaired people, wheelchair 

users, and people with prams or buggies. If the footway is not reinforced to permit parking, 

then the paving is likely to crack and cause a serious trip hazard for all pedestrians.   

 

There are some footways where parking is permitted on residential streets which are too 

narrow for parking on the carriageway. The streets where footway parking is permitted on 

a permanent basis either fully (with four wheels) or partially (with two wheels) on the 

pavement are formalised with parking bay markings and appropriate parking signs. 

 

Details of these can be found on the Parking Service’s webpage:  

 

https://www.brent.gov.uk/services-for-residents/parking/footway-parking 

 

https://www.brent.gov.uk/services-for-residents/parking/footway-parking


Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
10 

Bus Lanes 

                 

 

 

Moving Traffic Contraventions.  

 

The Council has adopted powers available under the Traffic Management Act 2004 to 

undertake civil enforcement of a number of Moving Traffic Offences (MTOs). Blocking 

yellow box junctions, making prohibited turns, ignoring no-entry signs, illegal U turns, and 

driving the wrong way in a one way road, are all examples of moving traffic violations 

actively enforced by the Council. Such restrictions are in place to ease congestion on the 

borough’s roads, and improve road safety. 

 

Yellow box junctions are highly visible to motorists and have crossed diagonal lines 

painted on the road. Motorists must not enter the box until the lane ahead is clear. 

However, you may enter the box and wait when you want to turn right, and are only 

stopped from doing so by oncoming traffic, or by other vehicles waiting to turn right.  

 

 

 

Brent Council’s overall approach to parking and enforcement is to work with residents, to 

identify local problems and develop appropriate and proportional local solutions. 

 

 

These solutions include but are not limited to:

• the prohibition of parking where this would compromise safety and the free flow 

of traffic.

•using parking controls to manage the demand for kerbside parking space.

The service enforces bus lanes and bus stop parking on Brent roads 

through the use of CCTV cameras. As the Council encourages more 

sustainable forms of transport, this plays an important role in ensuring the 

free movement of buses along the borough’s road network in order to 

secure faster journey times for bus users, and the prevention of potential 

traffic accidents. 

 

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=0ahUKEwjemeWpk7vNAhUsDcAKHTdhAk8QjRwIBw&url=http://www.newparkinglaws.co.uk/?tag%3D/bus-and-cycle-lanes&psig=AFQjCNHin1NKUohVe6ecfYmpHKSgahm5hg&ust=1466668283730947


Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
11 

DD 
 
 

Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs) 

Brent’s parking enforcement contractor, Serco, deploys CEOs to patrol across the 

borough. The Traffic Management Act 2004 specifies this designation because the prime 

function of a CEO is to enforce legislation governed by civil law. 

 

CEOs have the power to issue Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) to vehicles parked in 

contravention of local restrictions. 

 

A Penalty Charge Notice, sometimes called a parking ticket, may be issued at the scene 

by a CEO by being fixed to the vehicle, or handed to the person appearing to be in charge 

of it, or issued by post in the following cases: enforcement is by camera; or the CEO was 

prevented by someone from serving it at the scene; or the CEO had begun to prepare a 

PCN but the vehicle was driven away before it was finished and issued.

 

All CEOs are fully trained and are required to follow guidance set by London Councils. 

They wear a uniform that is easily recognisable and display an identification number.  

 

Parking enforcement officers across the borough have recently been issued with body 

worn video cameras. This will allow footage from incidents where motorists display 

threatening behaviour to be used as evidence to prosecute perpetrators, and give staff 

the confidence to carry out their duties without fear of threats or abuse. The video evidence 

can also be used to help settle appeals against any Penalty Charge Notices which 

motorists believe may be unfair. 

 

CEOs issued 103,363 PCNs in 2016/17; an increase of 4% compared to the same period 

last year. This improvement in productivity follows better management of deployment to 

focus on areas of higher contraventions, influenced by feedback and requests from local 

residents and businesses.  

 

Penalty Charge Notices issued by CEOs for Parking Offences: 

 

Contravention 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Parking Offences 85,101 75,460 87,146 99,145 103,363 

 

3. Enforcement Activity 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
12 

2016-17 Monthly PCN Issuance by Civil Enforcement Officers:  

 

 

CCTV Enforcement 

CCTV (closed-circuit television) is used to enforce bus lane and moving traffic restrictions 

in Brent, and some parking restrictions.  Camera enforcement signs are displayed to alert 

motorists to active CCTV enforcement of moving traffic and bus lanes, and to encourage 

compliance with local restrictions.  

 

A list of Moving Traffic Contraventions and the associated traffic signs can be viewed at: 

https://www.brent.gov.uk/media/239537/Highway%20Code%20list%20of%20enforceabl

e%20moving%20traffic%20contraventions.pdf 

Penalty Charge Notice Volumes (CCTV) 

 

Contravention 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Bus Lanes 3,373 5,681 11,362 8,370 10,349 

Moving Traffic 25,367 24,029 27,512 73,990 72,221 

CCTV Parking 28,942 37,353 36,584 991 2,160 

Total 57,682 67,063 75,458 83,351 84,730 

 

Compared to 2015/16, the issuance of PCNs for moving traffic contraventions decreased 

slightly, reflecting greater compliance by motorists following the installation of unattended 

cameras in 2015/16. Most of these cameras have quickly had a major impact on motoring 

standards, reducing traffic congestion and improving road safety.  

8554
9583 9508

8322 8721 8742
9642

8974
8480

7680 8059
7098

Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17

N
o

. 
o

f 
P

C
N

's
 

April'16- March'17  

PCNs issued by CEOs

https://www.brent.gov.uk/media/239537/Highway%20Code%20list%20of%20enforceable%20moving%20traffic%20contraventions.pdf
https://www.brent.gov.uk/media/239537/Highway%20Code%20list%20of%20enforceable%20moving%20traffic%20contraventions.pdf


Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
13 

Additional unattended camera systems will be installed in 2017 to provide consistent and 

reliable enforcement at key locations where traffic congestion and safety continues to be 

of concern.  

 

Camera enforcement is focused on a specific restriction for the duration of operational 

hours. This means that the Council are now able to provide comprehensive coverage to 

bring about compliance with traffic restrictions on moving vehicles.  

 

2016-17 Monthly PCN Issuance by CCTV:  

 

 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Bus  

Lane 

651 711 962 827 819 567 969 622 1216 1113 1027 865 

Moving 

Traffic 

6590 6985 6370 6639 6288 6025 6276 5465 5439 5665 5088 5391 

CCTV 

Parking 

106 127 118 116 72 123 164 98 129 191 412 504 

 

Overall, issuance of Parking PCNs captured by CCTV has greatly decreased following the 

introduction of the Deregulation Act 2015. The effect of the ban has been to prevent the 

service of CCTV-captured PCNs for a wide range of parking contraventions enforced 

under the terms of the Traffic Management Act 2004. PCNs can only be issued via CCTV 

to vehicles parked in bus lanes, at bus stops or on school keep clear markings.  In 2016/17 

the total number of PCNs issued for CCTV parking offences was 2,160. This represents 

an increase compared to the 991 issued in 2015/16, due to additional enforcement action 

being taken from February 2017 against parked vehicles blocking bus lanes in Harlesden.  

 

The ban has limited the council’s ability to address a range of specific parking problems 

where CEOs face particular challenges in ensuring compliance. The following is a list of 

the types of restrictions previously enforced by the council which are now more difficult or 

impossible to enforce.   

 

 

Yellow Line Restrictions

Loading Ban Restrictions

Double Parking

Footway Parking

Parking on Zig-Zag Markings



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
14 

Mobile Enforcement 

 

Serco deployed a number of CEOs on mopeds and cars, which enabled more effective 

enforcement across the borough. Officers can be rapidly deployed to attend to urgent 

issues such as obstruction of residential driveways and dropped kerbs. 

Vehicle Removals and the Car Pound 

Serco provide a removal truck to ensure the appropriate removal of vehicles parked in 

contravention. The service also relocates vehicles that remain parked in a section of road 

that has been temporarily suspended and obstructs form carrying out resurfacing or 

highway maintenance works. In 2016/17 a total of 269 vehicles were relocated and 2,163 

vehicles parked in contravention were impounded. Whilst this is an increase compared to 

1,969 in 2015/16, the service targets the most serious of contraventions, for example 

vehicles parked dangerously or causing a serious obstruction. 

 

All vehicles that have been removed within Brent are taken to the Brent Car Pound at:             

Unit 20-22, Whitby Avenue, Park Royal, NW10 7SF   

 

When a vehicle is removed, owners can contact the London wide TRACE service on 0845 

206 8602 or call the council on 020 8290 8300 to identify where the vehicle is being stored. 

 

Number of Vehicles Removed and Released 

 

2016-17 Vehicle Removals:  

 

Brent Car Pound 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Vehicles Removed 1,991 1,969 2,163 

Vehicles Released 1,878 1,835 1,946 

Release Rate* 94.3% 93.2% 89.96% 

 

*A proportion of the vehicles not released include those of interest to the police or with a cloned registration. 

 
 
 

In August 2016, the service arranged for a specialised lifting truck to take enforcement 

action and impound large vans and lorries parked illegally across the borough.  

 

 

If a vehicle is blocking access to your driveway you can arrange for the vehicle to be 

removed any day between the hours of 8am and 10pm except Christmas Day             

by calling 020 8453 3289 

 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
15 

The first visit of the day was to a garage operating on Mount Pleasant at the junction 

with Beresford Avenue, Wembley, selling vans parked dangerously on Double Yellow 

Lines, which resulted in the removal of this van: 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
16 

DD 
 
 

Responding to PCN Enquiries 

The Council seeks to provide a transparent and fair parking enforcement service. 

Motorists who feel that they have been unfairly issued with a Penalty Charge Notice may 

contest the charge by writing to the Council. The Council has a dedicated and qualified 

specialist team who consider each case based upon its own merits. All formal 

correspondence is handled within the statutory time periods allowed for response. 

 

Since its launch in 2014, the council’s web based service has seen major improvements 

in the online customer experience. The service allows customers to view specific details 

about PCNs they have received, submit a challenge or representation, monitor the 

progress of the representation, view photos of the incident, and make a payments.   

 

This is a significant enhancement to the council’s service and provides motorists with 

access to far more information than they had previously. This means that motorists are 

able to make an informed decision about whether or not to challenge the Notice or make 

representations; and should they decide to challenge, they will have a greater amount of 

evidence to refer to. 

 

Should a motorist remain unhappy with our final decision, they may make an appeal to 

the independent appeals service who will make an impartial decision based upon the 

merits of the case in question.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A significant improvement to the quality and consistency of letters to drivers has also 

been achieved when in December 2016, the service introduced a new software 

application, Response Master. This has allowed for correspondence to be provided in 

plain English with a consistent level of clarity, application of council policies and legal 

compliance. 

London Tribunals is the new name for the Parking and Traffic Appeals Service 

(PATAS) which supports the Environment and Traffic Adjudicators (ETA). Cases are 

heard at London Tribunals:  

Chancery Exchange, 10 Furnival Street, London EC4A 1AB 

 

4. Responding to Enquiries 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
17 

Independent Appeals Service Data 

The figures received from the Independent Appeals Service for 2015-16 represented a 

continuing improvement in the council’s record at independent appeal tribunals.  

 

A smaller proportion of PCN cases were referred to ETA, showing that more motorists had 

confidence in the council’s appeal decisions; and a smaller proportion of PCN cases were 

ultimately overturned at ETA, showing that the council’s issuance of PCNs and its 

assessment of appeal cases at an early stage had continued to improve in quality. 

 

 

Independent Appeals 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Total PCNs issued by LB Brent 142,519  162,604  182,496  

Total PCN appeals heard by PATAS/ETA 1,428  1,299  1,168  

% of PCNs issued heard by PATAS/ETA 1.0% 0.8% 0.64%  

No. of appeals allowed or not contested  716  625  632  

Of which, number of appeals not contested  520  366  296  

% of appeals allowed or not contested 50% 48% 54%  

% of PCNs issued, which were heard by 

ETA/PATAS and allowed or not contested  0.50% 

       

0.38% 

 

0.35% 

 

Independent Appeals Service Reports 

The annual report by the Chief Parking Adjudicator: ‘Parking and Traffic Adjudicators’ 

annual report’ and appeal figures for all London authorities: ‘Parking and Traffic Appeal 

Statistics’, can be found on the London Tribunals website at: 

 

http://www.londontribunals.gov.uk/about/annual-reports-and-appeal-statistics  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.londontribunals.gov.uk/about/annual-reports-and-appeal-statistics


Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
18 

DD 

 

Customer Satisfaction 

Customer satisfaction is key to the delivery of parking services. With a growing move to 

online and self-service parking account management services, we continue to make 

enhancements to the online booking system, and to online PCN representations. More 

information is now available on the Parking pages of the Councils website about both on- 

and off-street parking provisions, products, services and general information than was 

previously made available.  

 

The most common feedback from customers was for improvements to be made to the 

process of navigating through the website and for the associated text to be improved. This 

feedback has helped improve and shape the online system, to further improve customer 

satisfaction, increase take up of online services and generate efficiency savings through 

channel shift.  

 

Customer Complaints 

 

Complaints about the Parking service have fallen for the fourth consecutive year, with 146 

complaints registered in 2016/17 - 10% fewer than in the previous year. Significantly fewer 

complaints were received about the online permit and visitor parking system, as residents 

have become more familiar with using it. Over 90% of complaints were resolved at the 

first stage, investigated and responded to by the parking service itself.  

 

Customers who remain dissatisfied after their complaint has been considered by the 

department can request a final review on behalf of the Chief Executive. The parking 

escalation rate to final review was 9%, lower than the Council-wide average.  

 

Parking Complaints 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

No. of Complaints closed in year 337 205 164 146 

 

Brent Council’s customer care policy includes commitments to: acknowledge written 

enquires within five working days; respond to written enquiries within 10 working days; 

respond to all stage 1 complaints within 20 working days; and respond to all stage 2 

complaints within 30 working days. 

 

5. Customer Care 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
19 

Brent Contact Centre 

 

Brent’s main contact centre, for services such as parking bay suspensions and products, 

is administered by Serco through a combination of call operators and an interactive voice 

response (IVR) system. IVR is a technology that allows a computer to interact through the 

use of voice and tones input via the phone keypad allowing customers to be directed on 

how to proceed.  

 

IVR was introduced in November 2015 to improve the customer experience, provide 

access to products such as visitor vouchers 7 days a week, 24 hours a day, and help 

reduce costs on call centre operators. In its first month, the system handled 5,000 calls.   

 

With continued improvements and enhancements made in the system, the total number 

of calls resolved through IVR in 2016/17 was 99,855. IVR has also helped achieve a 

reduction in call waiting times and a reduction in average call durations.  

 

 

 

Consultation 

 

The Parking service undertook a borough-wide consultation in April 2016, seeking the 

views of residents, local businesses and schools on a number of proposals to changes in 

the way the council manages, and charges for, on-street parking within Controlled Parking 

Zones (CPZs). A series of focus groups, a public meeting and attendance at the Brent 

Connect Forums were also arranged as part of the consultation. A total of 3,319 responses 

were received through our engagement with residents that helped shape and deliver 

changes to parking management. 

 

0
2000
4000
6000
8000

10000
12000
14000
16000
18000

Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17

To
ta

l n
o

. o
f 

ca
lls

Apr'16-Mar'17

Monthly Call Volumes

Calls Received by IVR Calls Received by Agents Total Calls Received



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
20 

DD 

 

Parking Provision 

The Council manages 40 Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) across the borough, serving 

56,000 households with over 33,000 on-street parking spaces. Specific times of operation 

vary but the majority are in operation throughout the day, from Monday to either Friday or 

Saturday. Current shopping and business opening hours mean that in some areas there 

can be similar, and sometimes higher, levels of parking on Sundays and Bank Holidays 

than on normal weekdays or Saturdays. For this reason, parking controls apply on 

Sundays in a small number of locations. 

 

 

Information on parking restrictions and the Wembley event day zone, a full size map of 

Brent’s Controlled Parking Zones, and a post code search facility to determine whether 

or not you are located within a controlled parking zone, are all available on the council’s 

parking pages:   www.brent.gov.uk/parking.  

 

 

6. Parking Service 

http://www.brent.gov.uk/parking


Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
21 

Parking controls typically cover areas near high street locations or around tube or rail 

stations, for example in the vicinity of Wembley Stadium. CPZs are designed to prevent 

commuters from parking in residential streets, and encourage them instead to use pay 

and display facilities or use alternative means of transport. 

Throughout the 2016 parking consultation, the service received feedback from resident’s 

expressing views on potential new CPZs in the borough, as well as requests for changes 

to existing CPZs and parking controls. In recognition of this, the Highways and 

Infrastructure service is leading on developing a programme for introducing new CPZs, 

reviewing existing CPZs, and introducing parking and loading restrictions where needed.  

The review commenced early in 2017. The service will prioritise areas where the Council 

receives numerous requests for changes, there is evidence of on-street parking 

pressures, and there is a high level of public support. We aim to introduce on-street 

parking controls that will benefit residents and businesses alike. If you would like to 

request changes to parking controls in your area, please read the guidance notes and 

complete the application form that can be found on the Parking page of the Council’s 

website or follow the link below. 

 

https://www.brent.gov.uk/services-for-residents/parking/brent-parking-controls-have-

your-say/ 

 

 

 

 

https://www.brent.gov.uk/services-for-residents/parking/brent-parking-controls-have-your-say/
https://www.brent.gov.uk/services-for-residents/parking/brent-parking-controls-have-your-say/


Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
22 

Resident Permits 

Resident permits are available to all residents who live in CPZs.  Resident permit options 

are available for twelve month, six month or three month periods. In April 2017 a new 

twenty-four month option was introduced. Permits are priced according to the vehicle’s 

carbon emission levels and the number of permits issued to each household, up to a 

maximum of three.  

 

From 1st April 2017, the emission-based banding scheme for resident parking permits was 

simplified to just 3 categories - for low emissions (less than 110 gCO2/km), standard 

emissions (110-200 gCO2/km) and high emissions (201+ gCO2/km) vehicles.   

 

Prior to the simplification, the resident permit scheme had 7 categories of vehicle. It was 

considered that the high number of categories provided a lack of clarity in steering 

motorists to choose vehicles which produce a lower level of carbon emissions.  

 

Permits Issued 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Resident Permits 34,427 31,132 31,098 

 

Visitor Parking 

Residents can purchase visitor parking credits either over the telephone, by SMS, or 

online by logging into their parking account. 

 

Use of electronic visitor parking has increased significantly from the inception of the 

service in 2013, when just over 250,000 bookings were made. In 2016/17, the service 

attracted an average of over 38,000 bookings per month. 

 

The introduction of new visitor parking charges in all Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) areas 

came into effect on 29th November 2016, offering a £1.50 charge for up to 2 hours, a £3 

charge for up to 4 hours, and a £4.50 charge for ‘all-day’ visitor parking of over 4 hours.  

 

Permits Issued (to ‘000) 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Visitor Parking  250,000 411,000 451,000 460,000 

 

Households not located in a CPZ, but which fall within the Wembley Event Day Protective 

Parking Scheme, are able to purchase an Event Day Visitor permit. A total of 1,858 Event 

Day Visitor permits were issued in 2016/17.   



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
23 

Business Permits 

 

Business and business livery permits are available to businesses that have premises 

within a CPZ. Permits are priced at a flat rate. Business are permitted to purchase up to 

three permits, with an option to purchase an annual, 6 month or 3 month permit. From 

April 2017, schools within CPZs have also been able to purchase up to 3 business permits. 

 

Working with the local business community to address a series of parking concerns in the 

Lower Place Industrial Estate, Stonebridge, the council successfully introduced the 

borough’s first ever business specific CPZ in November 2016. The scheme provides 

business permits and a new flexible ‘business visitor’ permit. The increase in permits 

issued in 2016/17 compared to previous year includes those issued within the new Lower 

Place CPZ.  

 

Permits Issued 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Business Permits 627 589 691 

 

Other Permits 

 

The council offers a number of other permits.  These include permits for disabled persons, 

Doctors, Event Days, Places of Worship and other special permits. There is also an 

Essential Users Permit; this scheme enables staff working for accredited public sector and 

charitable organisations to park a vehicle in a CPZ whilst carrying out official duties.  

 

Permits Issued 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

All Other Permits 5,164 5,140 5,095 

 
 

During the course of the year, and in consultation with residents and schools, the service  

developed a new policy framework in respect of parking for school staff. To provide an 

incentive for schools to actively engage in travel planning, to encourage more sustainable 

travel options; and to support schools in CPZs to recruit and retain key staff; a new scheme 

was introduced from April 2017. This allows qualifying schools to: purchase up to 3 school 

staff parking permits, providing the school has a bronze level accredited travel plan; and 

purchase additional school staff permits, should they have either a silver (up to 6 school 

permits) or a gold (up to 9 school permits) level accredited travel plan. 114 permits were 

issued in 2016/17 to school staff across the borough. 

 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
24 

 

 

Virtual Permits 

 

Traditionally, vehicle permits were issued in paper format to be displayed in the 

windscreen of the vehicle. The service has been looking at ways to improve the efficiency, 

accuracy and reliability of its permits, in particular those that are vehicle specific. Over the 

summer of 2016, a pilot scheme introducing paper-less Virtual Permits across four CPZs 

was carried out. The pilot scheme was a success and we are now introducing vehicle-

specific virtual permits across all CPZs.     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
25 

DD 
 
 

The council provides on-street pay and display parking bays to facilitate parking for visitors 

to town centres and other destinations, helping to support economic activity in the 

borough.   

 

Pay and display machines are located across the borough near shops and businesses, 

allowing residents and visitors to park during operational hours. The general principle 

underpinning on-street pay and display parking is to provide a quick turn-over of spaces, 

allowing easy access for motorists who wish to make short visits to shop or conduct 

business; and therefore park near to their destination. 

 

Pricing policy seeks to ensure that there is a regular turnover of parking spaces. Pay & 

Display bay charges were last set in 2013. Motorists pay a uniform set of charges across 

the borough; 20p for up to 15 minutes; and then £1 for 30 minutes, £2 for one hour, £4 for 

2 hours, £6 for 3 hours, and £8 for 4 hours. By April 2017 all of our 549 operational 

machines had been adapted to accept the new £1 coin. 

 

The Council has a number of pay and display locations throughout the Borough. As 

demand for paying by mobile phone increases, and payments by cash decrease, some 

areas no longer require as many pay and display machines. In 2016, an analysis of 

machines identified a total of 136 machines as being very under-utilised. These have since 

been bagged, awaiting removal scheduled now during 2017.  

 

A planned maintenance programme of the pay and display machines ensures the 

machines are regularly checked and cleaned. There are occasions when faults develop. 

In 2016-17 we responded to over 98% of machine faults within our target response times. 

  

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

A survey in 2014 indicated that there were approximately 88,000 on-street parking places, both 

controlled and uncontrolled, available across the whole of Brent. Over large areas of the 

borough, particularly in the north and west, on-street parking remains available to motorists free 

of charge or restriction. In these areas, there are only limited lengths of kerbside waiting and 

loading restrictions in place on-street, including those necessary to ensure road safety.  

(2015 Parking Strategy). 

 

 

7. On-street Parking 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
26 

Paying to park by mobile phone and tablets 

 

  

 

Once a RingGo account has been created and a vehicle is registered to pay for parking 

sessions, the booking of sessions is automated and requires no cash or displaying of a 

ticket in the windscreen. On confirmation of location number and payment, the handheld 

devices used by CEOs are updated, indicating that parking has been paid for. The RingGo 

service extends beyond Brent to 18 other London boroughs, a number of District and 

County Councils and at various locations across the country.  

 

Parking via RingGo in Brent is 50 pence cheaper than making a cash payment. In addition, 

the option for text reminders when parking sessions are due to expire enables the motorist 

to extend parking time, wherever they are, by making a simple phone call or using the 

RingGo application on their device. 

 

Demand for pay to park by mobile technology continues to grow strongly year on year. In 

2016/17 this accounted for 59% of on-street parking space sales and 52% of our off-street 

sales, compared to 51% and 42% respectively in 2015/16.  

 

On-Street Sales (Pay & Display Machines) 

 

On-Street 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

% revenue in cash 85% 81% 72% 61% 49% 41% 

% revenue cashless 15% 19% 28% 39% 51% 59% 

 

Off-Street Sales (Car Parks) 

 

Off-Street 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

% revenue in cash 92% 89% 80% 67% 58% 48% 

% revenue cashless 8% 11% 20% 33% 42% 52% 

 

The option to pay for parking sessions using mobile technology and 

a debit/credit card has been available in Brent since 2009.  The 

service is provided by a specialist company, RingGo, and is 

available in all of the council’s car parks and on-street pay and 

display bays. 

 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
27 

 

 

Suspensions and Dispensations 

 

Parking bay suspensions and dispensations facilitate large deliveries to residential 

properties, and allow residents to move into or away from the borough with as little 

inconvenience as possible.  

 

The temporary suspension of a parking bay reserves a specific bay or bays for use on a 

specified day, or part of a specified day, by a specified vehicle. A request for suspension 

must be made by completing the suspensions application form that is available online and 

must be done 21 days in advance. There is a charge of £44 per bay, per day. If granted, 

the council will post notices in advance alerting motorists of when the bays will be 

suspended.    

A dispensation temporarily allows parking in a location that is ordinarily not possible, for a 

maximum dispensation of four hours in every 24 hour period. A request for dispensation 

must be made by completing the dispensations application form that is available online 

and must be done at least three days in advance. The charge for dispensations on Single 

Yellow Lines is £27 per period (maximum of 4 hours); Double Yellow Lines, £53 per period 

(maximum of 4 hours). 

 

 

 

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Cash and Cashless Receipts 2011-2017

Cash On-Street

Cashless On-Street

Cash Off-Street

Cashless Off-Street



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
28 

DD 

 

The Council operates 12 public car parks across the borough, including the Brent Civic 

Centre car park which is managed by Bilfinger Europa on behalf of the council.         

These car parks provide a combined total of 893 spaces.  

 

Prior to April 2016 two of our car parks (Elm Road and St John’s Road) had secured the 

Park Mark Award. Park Mark aims to reduce crime and the fear of crime within parking 

facilities through the achievement of high standards in lighting, signage, cleanliness and 

surveillance. In 2016/17, six more car parks gained accreditation, bringing the number of 

Park Mark accredited car parks to eight.  

  

Off-street parking spaces 

Car Park Number of spaces  

 

C
a
r 

s
p
a
c
e
s
 

D
is

a
b

le
d
 

s
p
a
c
e
s
 

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 

s
p
a
c
e
s
 

P
2

W
 s

p
a
c
e
s
 

P
a
re

n
t 
/ 
c
h

ild
 

s
p
a
c
e
s
 

E
le

c
tr

ic
 V

e
h

-

ic
le

 s
p

a
c
e
s
 

T
O

T
A

L
 

s
p
a
c
e
s
 

 

Barham Park 15 0 0 0 0 0 15  

Brent Civic Centre* 146 9 0 21 3 (47)** 179 B.E. 

Disraeli Road 74 0 0 0 0 0 74  

Elm Road 96 4 0 0 0 0 100  

Kingsbury Road 25 4 15 4 0 0 48  

Lonsdale Avenue 33 0 0 0 0 0 33  

Neasden Town Centre 38 0 0 0 0 0 38  

Northwick Park 93 3 0 0 0 0 96  

Preston Road 155 3 0 0 4 2 164  

Salusbury Road *** 29 1 11 0 0 0 41  

St. Johns Road 67 3 0 6 0 2 78  

Wendover Road 25 0 0 0 0 2 27  

Total Spaces 796 27 26 31 7 6 (53) 893  

 

*    Not all spaces in the Civic Centre car park are available for public parking  

**   Available as general parking when not in use  

***  Planned closure of car park anticipated late 2017.  

 

8. Off-street Parking 

https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=http://www.q-park.co.uk/Portals/7/park_mark_small.jpg&imgrefurl=http://www.q-park.co.uk/parking-with-q-park/park-with-q-park/quality-in-parking/park-mark-safety-awards-&docid=584suj-aPlnLtM&tbnid=EBCDG95-YrsuzM:&w=173&h=81&hl=en&bih=433&biw=1117&ved=0ahUKEwiSnZ7GkqrNAhUJJ8AKHbudDB8QMwglKAcwBw&iact=mrc&uact=8


Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
29 

Wembley Event Day Parking 

 

Between 8am and midnight, parking restrictions operate on Event days within the 

Wembley Stadium Event Day Protective Parking Scheme area.  The best way to visit 

Wembley Stadium is to plan your journey by public transport.  For those who wish to drive 

and park their vehicle, the council introduced pre-booked parking sessions on Wembley 

Event days in the following three car parks: 

 

           

Event day parking; prices correct at time of publication 06.2017.  

Please visit https://www.brent.gov.uk/eventdayparking 

 

These car parks offer safe, secure parking for your car within a short walk of Wembley 

Stadium. The Wembley event day ticket can be booked in advance of the event online 

providing an easy and convenient option.  

 

Brent Car Park Season Tickets 

 

At the end of 2015 the council introduced a new annual season ticket in two of its car 

parks, Elm Road, located off Wembley High Road and close to Wembley Central Tube 

Station (Bakerloo line, London Overground, National Rail) and Preston Road, by Preston 

Road Tube Station (Metropolitan line) 

 

In 2016 the annual season ticket was extended to a further two car parks, Preston Road 

and Disraeli Road. 

 

These car parks were selected for their close proximity to hospitals, high streets and/or 

tube stations, offering a safe and convenient place to park whilst encouraging better use 

of the council’s off-street parking provisions and alleviating pressure for on-street parking 

spaces.  

 

     10 minute walk to stadium                     10 minute walk to stadium                  20 minute walk to stadium 

               65 spaces                                                20 Spaces                                          190 Spaces 

                  £20.00                                                     £20.00                                                    £5.00 

https://www.brent.gov.uk/eventdayparking
https://www.brent.gov.uk/services-for-residents/parking/wembley-stadium-event-car-parking/our-safe-and-secure-car-parks/elm-road/
https://www.brent.gov.uk/services-for-residents/parking/wembley-stadium-event-car-parking/our-safe-and-secure-car-parks/lonsdale-avenue/
https://www.brent.gov.uk/services-for-residents/parking/wembley-stadium-event-car-parking/our-safe-and-secure-car-parks/preston-road/


Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
30 

DD 

 

 

An important purpose of the Annual Report is to meet a key requirement set out in the 

2015 Statutory Guidance issued under the Traffic Management Act 2004. This is to 

provide financial information relating to all aspects of parking enforcement operations 

including the number of PCNs issued, the number of PCNs paid, the income and 

expenditure related to the enforcement activities recorded in the Parking Account, and 

how the surplus on the Account has been or will be spent. 

 

Account Summary 2016/2017 

 

Overall the Parking service fully met the expectations set out in the Council’s agreed 

budget for 2016/17. The net surplus on the Parking account increased by almost 16%, 

from £10.119m in 2015/16 to £11.724m in 2016/17. The service raised £0.406m more 

revenue in 2016/17 than was originally anticipated in budget planning.  

 

  

 
 2014-2015 2015-2016 2016-2017 

  Expenditure 

(£000)* 

Income  Expenditure 

(£000)* 

Income  Expenditure 

(£000)* 

Income  

(£000)* (£000)* (£000)* 

Parking Administration  1,241 - 1,602 -88  4,532** - 

Parking Projects  63                        -  255  - 329 - 

On-Street Parking  350  -3,515  376 -3,885  157 -4,174 

Off-Street Car Parks  224  -398  75 -403  82 -447 

Parking Enforcement    4,898  -10,892  5,883 -14,263  2,515** -15,039 

London Bus Initiative  412  -1,340  328 -  323 - 

Total   7,188 -16,145   8,520 -18,639  7,937 -19,660 

Net Surplus    -8,957    -10,119   -11,724 

* Figures rounded to the nearest thousand.  

** Accounting changes have reallocated parking expenditure from ‘enforcement’ to ‘parking administration’. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9. Financial Information 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
31 

Surplus 

 

The use of any surplus in the account is governed by Section 55 of the Road Traffic 

Regulation Act 1984. The legislation specifies that the surplus may be used for the 

following: 

 

i. making good to the General Fund any deficits incurred in the On-Street Parking 

Account during the previous four years;  

ii. meeting the cost of the provision and maintenance of off-street car parking in the 

Borough, or in another Local Authority.  

 

If, however, it is considered unnecessary to provide further off-street parking in the area, 

the surplus may then be used to fund any of the following:  

 

i. Public passenger transport services;  

ii. Highway improvement works;  

iii. Highway maintenance, or 

iv. The costs of anything that has the approval of the Mayor of London and which 

facilitates the implementation of the Mayor’s transport strategy.  

v. Environmental improvement works. 

 

 

From 2016/17 the whole £11.724m net surplus on the parking account in 2016-17 has 

been allocated to assist in meeting the cost of concessionary fares, as shown below: 

 
 2014-2015 2015-2016 2016-17 

  Transfer (£000*) Transfer (£000*) Transfer (£000*) 

Transportation service 2,091 2,091  - 

Additional pothole repairs - 200 - 

Concessionary Fares 6,866 7,828  11,724 

Final Surplus NIL NIL  NIL 

*Figures rounded to the nearest thousand. 

 

 

 

 

Concessionary fares expenditure includes a contribution from 

the Parking surplus to the cost of offering the Freedom Pass, 

which provides users free travel on most public transport in 

London for those that meet the disability eligibility or age criteria. 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
32 

The surplus generated does not cover the full expenditure that the Council incurred on 

concessionary fares. The total cost to the council for offering this service to its residents 

in 2016/17 was £16,284m; the Parking Account surplus contributed 72% towards this cost. 

 

Debt Recovery 

 

Of the 188,093 PCNs issued in 2016/2017, 129,433 were paid by 31st March 2017, an 

overall recovery rate in-year of 69%. By October 2017, the recovery rate of PCNs issued 

in 2016/17 is expected to eventually rise to at least 71%.  

 

The average yield per PCN has remained at £51.50. Both the average value and recovery 

rate on PCNs remained steady throughout the past two years as we continue to make 

improvements in the quality of those issued and in the collection of outstanding debt. This 

continued performance is due to a better standard of evidence collected to support PCNs, 

improvements in PCN processing, and a closer relationship with the council’s Civil 

Enforcement Agents (bailiffs) following the appointment of a dedicated Debt Recovery 

Officer.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
33 

DD 

 

 

In 2017/18 the service will be continue to work on introducing new products and options 

to the permit system, and improving enforcement activity to achieve better compliance.  

 

A specific £200k reserve has been brought forward to fund the installation of additional 

moving traffic enforcement CCTV cameras, to encourage compliance. 

 

Below is a snap shot of other proposed projects for 2017-18. An additional project reserve 

of £186k has been brought forward to ensure that these projects can be completed 

successfully. 

 

 Development of IT systems, allowing for online applications for suspensions and 

dispensations. 

 Removal of under-used pay & display machines 

 Replacement of old pay & display machines in busy locations  

 Introduction of a pilot re-mountable CCTV camera enforcement to improve 

parking compliance outside schools during peak hours. 

 The extension of virtual resident and business permits borough-wide 

 Introduction of recurring payments for permits 

 Introduction of a new 3.5 tonnes weight limit on vehicles allowed to obtain a 

resident parking permit  

 Development of a new parking policy specific to places of Religious Worship and 

Faith, Cultural or Religious Festivals in Brent 

 Review of the permitting system to identify and reduce fraud 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10. Future Developments 



Parking Annual Report 2016-2017 
34 

DD 

 

 

Brent Council Website 

www.brent.gov.uk  

 

Brent Councils Parking Home Page 

https://www.brent.gov.uk/services-for-residents/parking/  

 

LB Brent 2015 Parking Strategy 

https://www.brent.gov.uk/media/16403337/parking-strategy-2015.pdf  

 

Previous Parking Annual Reports 

 

https://www.brent.gov.uk/your-council/transparency-in-brent/performance-and-

spending/council-performance/parking-service-annual-report/ 

 

London Councils Parking Services 

http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/services/parking-services  

 

The Secretary of State’s Statutory Guidance to Local Authorities on the Civil Enforcement of 

Parking Contraventions 

 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479849/final-

statutory-guidance.pdf 

 

 

 

Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, 

Wembley, Middlesex, HA9 0JF. 

Parking Service 020 8290 8300 

11. Useful Links 

http://www.brent.gov.uk/
https://www.brent.gov.uk/services-for-residents/parking/
https://www.brent.gov.uk/media/16403337/parking-strategy-2015.pdf
https://www.brent.gov.uk/your-council/transparency-in-brent/performance-and-spending/council-performance/parking-service-annual-report/
https://www.brent.gov.uk/your-council/transparency-in-brent/performance-and-spending/council-performance/parking-service-annual-report/
http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/services/parking-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479849/final-statutory-guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479849/final-statutory-guidance.pdf
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwi2l7S6gMvNAhWjKMAKHag9C0QQjRwIBw&url=http://wembley.blogontheblock.com/2013/06/10-things-about-brent-civic-centre/&psig=AFQjCNESxGs2CqFSUY51Z8TN59-eZPoNoQ&ust=1467212902201052

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	7 Brent Council Parking Service Annual Report 2016-2017
	Appendix A - Full Parking Annual Report


